#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC, A FOREIGN LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Appellant,

VS.

CHERSUS HOLDINGS, LLC, A
DOMESTIC LIMITED LIABILITY
COMPANY; and SOUTHERN
TERRACE HOMEOWNERS
ASSOCIATION, A DOMESTIC NONPROFIT CORPORATION,

Respondents.

Appeal Case No. 82680
District Court Case Flectronically Filed
Jan 24 2022 12:28 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

WRIGHT, FINLAY & ZAK, LLP Christina V. Miller, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 12448 7785 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 (702) 475-7964; Fax: (702) 946-1345 cmiller@wrightlegal.net

Attorneys for Appellant, Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This case is properly before the Nevada Supreme Court based on the district court's March 22, 2021, Order Granting Judgment in Favor of Counterclaimant Chersus Holdings, LLC, which resolved all remaining claims, rendering this matter as final and appealable. [XVIII:AA3478-85.] Notice of entry of that order was filed and served on March 22, 2021. [XVIII:AA3486-97.]

Ocwen served and filed its initial notice of appeal on March 6, 2020. [XVIII:AA3459-60.] The initial notice of appeal was deemed premature, and the operative notice of appeal was filed on March 23, 2021. [XVIII:AA3498-99.] The operative notice of appeal was timely as required by NRAP 4(a)(1).

#### II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Ocwen requests that this appeal remain assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court for decision pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12). This matter involves as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance regarding foreclosure of a homeowner's association lien for unpaid assessments.

xi

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellant's Appendix is designated "AA". On January 7, 2022, counsel for Ocwen contacted counsel for Chersus and the HOA and provided the proposed documents to include in a Joint Appendix, as required by NRAP 30(a). No response to the proposed Joint Appendix was received by the date of filing this Opening Brief. Accordingly, Ocwen will concurrently file the Appendix designated as Appellant's Appendix, which includes all portions of the record essential to determination of issues raised in this appeal. NRAP 30(b)(3).

#### III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

- 1. Whether the district court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Chersus Holdings, LLC ("Chersus") based on *West Sunset 2050 Trust v. Nationstar Mortg., LLC*, 134 Nev. 352, 420 P.3d 1032 (2018), which did not address whether a homeowners association's foreclosure sale is affected by fraud, oppression or unfairness as a result of the homeowners association pre-foreclosure factoring agreement with United Legal Services, Inc. ("ULS") and First 100, LLC ("First 100").
- 2. Whether the district court erred in not evaluating whether the HOA Sale price was grossly inadequate where the sale price was less than 2.4% of the fair market value of the Property at the time of the HOA Sale.
- 3. Whether the district court erred in finding that the Factoring Agreement was not evidence of fraud, oppression or unfairness which brought about the low sale price where there was more than *slight evidence* in the undisputed record that (1) the Factoring Agreement mandated an opening bid amount of only \$99 and that the HOA could not bid at the HOA Sale; (2) the Factoring Agreement mandated the HOA must use ULS as the foreclosure trustee and that ULS would be paid by First 100; (3) ULS conducted the HOA Sale outside of regular business hours; and (4) First 100 did not actually pay any amount to acquire the Property at the HOA Sale because, per the Factoring

Agreement, First 100 was entitled to receive all proceeds of the HOA Sale which were due to the HOA, thereby resulting in a full refund of First 100's winning bid.

- 4. Whether the district erred in concluding that bona fide purchaser analysis as to First 100 and Chersus was irrelevant, and the undisputed evidentiary record confirms that neither entity paid any valuable consideration for their interests and both knew that they would not receive clear title to the Property and could acquire their interests subject to the Deed of Trust.
- 5. Whether the district court erred in entering summary judgment against Ocwen on Chersus' counterclaim for wrongful foreclosure where the undisputed evidentiary record confirms that the HOA Sale was voidable as to the Deed of Trust as the result of a commercially unreasonable HOA Sale and GMAC Mortgage, LLC ("GMAC") properly proceeded to foreclose under the Deed of Trust and sold the Property to Ocwen.
- 6. Whether the district erred in entering summary judgment against Ocwen on Chersus' counterclaim for trespass where the HOA Sale did not extinguish the Deed of Trust and no argument or evidence of "forcible entry" or "lockout" was presented by Chersus to the district court.
- 7. Whether the district court erred in entering summary judgment against Ocwen on Chersus' counterclaim for unjust enrichment where no argument or evidence was presented by Chersus to the district court that Chersus had conferred

any benefit upon Ocwen or that Ocwen had gained any profit that should have been paid to Chersus.

- 8. Whether the district court abused its discretion in awarding rental income as damages to Chersus where Chersus based its hypothetical lost rental income on an undisclosed expert witness, the undisclosed expert witness' report failed to comply with the requirements of NRCP 16.1(a)(2)(B), and the district court found that the witness was qualified as an expert without conducting any analysis of his qualifications and methodology.
- 9. Whether the district court abused its discretion in awarding costs to Chersus where Chersus filed an untimely memorandum of costs and failed to submit sufficient evidence to support its alleged costs.

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for quiet title to real property after a homeowner's association lien foreclosure sale. Chersus claims to have a superior claim to title as the successor to the buyer at the homeowners' association foreclosure sale. Ocwen, is the record owner of the subject real property after a subsequent deed of trust foreclosure sale.

On February 19, 2014, Ocwen filed a Complaint for quiet title and declaratory relief against Chersus and the Southern Terrace Homeowners Association (the "HOA").<sup>2</sup> [I:AA0001-4.] The Complaint was subsequently amended on June 24, 2016, and January 23, 2018, as a result of the changing legal environment concerning similar facts and decisions of state and federal courts on point. [I:AA0021-155; II:AA0201-334, respectively.] On March 9, 2018, Chersus filed its Answer to the Second Amended Complaint and asserted counterclaims for Quiet Title, Declaratory Relief, Wrongful Foreclosure, Trespass, Conversion and Unjust Enrichment against Ocwen. [III:AA0338-49.]

After discovery closed, the parties filed competing Motions for Summary Judgment. [III:AA0363-IV:AA0501-715, V:AA0716-858 (Ocwen's Motion for Summary Judgment and Request for Judicial Notice); V:AA0859-887 –

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ocwen also filed claims against Red Rock Financial Services and ULS, but subsequently dismissed those claims. [III:AA0360-62 and III:AA0335-37, respectively.]

XII:AA2303 (Chersus' Motion for Summary Judgment and Errata to Exhibits); XII:AA2317-2337 (HOA's Motion for Summary Judgment).] The district court held a hearing on January 22, 2019 [XIV:AA2677-739] and subsequently granted summary judgment in favor of Chersus and the HOA and against Ocwen. *Id.* The district court's written Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order ("FOFCOL") was entered on May 6, 2019. [XIV:AA2740-80.]

Ocwen moved the district court for reconsideration [XIV:AA2826-37], which was initially denied. [XVII:AA3419-21.] Ocwen renewed its Motion for Reconsideration on November 18, 2019 [XVIII:AA3432-39], which the district court granted. [XVIII:AA3444-46.] However, the district court then reached the same conclusion, entering judgment in favor of Chersus and against Ocwen. [XVIII:AA3457-58.]

Ocwen filed a notice of appeal [XVIII:AA3459-60]; however, due to the outstanding issue of Chersus' alleged damages, the appeal did not proceed. In order to prove-up its alleged damages, Chersus filed a Motion for: (1) Judgment or Prove-Up Hearing for Compensatory Statutory, or Punitive Damages; (2) Order Awarding Attorney's Fees to Chersus; and Orders for Specific Performance ("Motion for Prove-Up Hearing"). [XV:AA3053-152.] Chersus concurrently filed a Memorandum of Costs. [XV:AA3040-52.] Ocwen opposed the Motion for Prove-Up Hearing and filed a Motion to Retax Chersus' alleged litigation costs.

[XVII:AA3360-418 and XVII:AA3352-59, respectively.] Thereafter, on March 4, 2021, the district court held a hearing for Chersus to prove-up its alleged damages ("Prove-Up Hearing"). [XVIII:AA3500-65.] The district court denied Chersus' request for attorney's fees and punitive damages against Ocwen but granted Chersus' claim for lost rental income for the period November 2016 through March 2021, in the amount of \$76,650, and awarded Chersus its claimed litigation costs, in the amount of \$2,522.17. [XVIII:AA3478-85.]

On March 23, 2021, Ocwen timely filed a new Notice of Appeal. [XVIII:AA3498-99.]

#### V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. The Subject Loan

In March 2008, Joseph F. Harrison and Bonnie L. Harrison ("Borrowers") purchased the real property located at 5946 Lingering Breeze Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 89148, APN 163-31-611-022 (the "Property"). The Borrowers subsequently obtained a mortgage as evidenced by a deed of trust, identifying Direct Equity Mortgage, LLC as the Lender and Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. (hereinafter "MERS") as nominee for Lender and Lender's successors and assigns, and secured a loan in the amount of \$234,739.00 ("Deed of Trust"). [II:AA0222-30.] The Deed of Trust and promissory note secured thereby are collectively referred to herein as the "Loan".

On December 20, 2013, after the Borrowers defaulted on their repayment obligations under the Loan, and after the HOA Sale, defined in section V.B. below, GMAC Mortgage LLC ("GMAC") the record beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and holder of the promissory note, through its trustee, the Cooper Castle Law Firm, LLP, proceeded with a non-judicial foreclosure under the Deed of Trust ("Loan Foreclosure"). [V:AA0851-54.] Ocwen was the grantee at the Loan Foreclosure and became the record owner of the Property ("Loan Foreclosure"). [Id.]

#### B. The Factoring Agreement Between the HOA and First 100.

The Property is located within the HOA. After the Borrowers became delinquent in payment of their monthly assessments to the HOA, the HOA—through its agent, Red Rock Financial Services ("Red Rock")—began the process of foreclosing on the Property under a lien for delinquent assessments ("HOA Lien"). [II:AA0237.]

On April 23, 2013, the HOA entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with First 100, LLC ("First 100") and United Legal Services, Inc. ("ULS) (the "Factoring Agreement"). [III:AA0396-412.] Pursuant to the terms of the Factoring Agreement, in pertinent part, the HOA sold its interest in both the delinquent assessments and its right to collect future delinquent assessments. *Id.* at ¶¶ 2.01 and 4.02(h). The Factoring Agreement prohibited the HOA from continuing to use its preferred foreclosure agent, Red Rock, and required ULS to be used as the

foreclosure agent. Id. at ¶ 3.02(a). Any amounts collected by ULS or the HOA, including the HOA's foreclosure sale proceeds due to the HOA, were required to be turned over to First 100. Id. at 3.02(b), 3.04(i) and 4.02(a). The Factoring Agreement required ULS to pre-set the opening bid at the reduced amount of \$99, instead of the actual amount of the HOA's lien at the time of the foreclosure sale, and forbid the HOA from bidding any higher or sending a person or agent to the foreclosure sale to credit bid or bid any amount higher than the pre-set \$99 opening bid. Id. at ¶ 3.02(l) and ¶ 4.02(i).

#### C. The HOA Sale Resulting in First 100's Acquisition of the Property.

Pursuant to the HOA Lien, the HOA proceeded to foreclose against the Property on May 25, 2013 ("HOA Sale"), through ULS and the Property was sold to First 100 for an alleged amount of \$3,500. [II:AA0243-45.] At the time of the HOA Sale, the fair market value of the Property was \$148,000. [IV:AA0681-708.] First 100 then gave the Property to Respondent Chersus Holdings, LLC ("Chersus") for free. [II:AA0247-49; IV:AA0625 at line 9 - AA0629, line 25.] According to Chersus' deposition testimony, Chersus and First 100 had earlier agreement for a real estate deal involving four or five properties, but that deal feel through. [IV:AA0625 at line 9 - AA0629, line 25.] As a result, First 100 simply gave Chersus whatever interest First 100 had in the Property for free to make up for any loss in the unsuccessful deal. *Id.* It appears that Chersus simply paid First

100 a \$2,500 fee to represent it in obtaining quiet title. *Id*.

The written Purchase and Sale Agreement ("Sale Agreement") between First 100 and Chersus confirms the foregoing information, as well as that both entities knew that the Deed of Trust was an encumbrance on title and a quiet title lawsuit would be required to clear title, if at all. [XVII:AA3386-90.] The Sale Agreement provides:

- First 100 sold the Property to Chersus "without recourse or warranty". [*Id.* at §§1.1, 2.1, 2.2.]
- The purchase price for the Property was \$0.00. [Id. at §1.2.]
- Chersus would pay a fee of \$2,500 to pursue quiet title. [*Id*.]

The Sale Agreement also includes an entire section entitled "Quiet Title", which provides in pertinent part:

1.5 Quiet Title. Buyer understands and acknowledges that:
(i) A quiet title action is a lawsuit that must be brought in the deed owner's name, as plaintiff[.]

[*Id.* at §1.5.]

Additionally, because First 100 knew that it was possible that quiet title free and clear of the Deed of Trust may not attainable, the Sale Agreement included a provision permitting Chersus to return the Property to First 100:

///

///

1.6 Property Swap/Substitution. If a quiet title action on the Property is unsuccessful, then: (i) F100 will (pending availability) substitute a different property to Buyer...and (ii) F100 will convey the substituted property to [Chersus]...The parties agree to work together to make all such transitions as smooth as possible. For all substitutions, Buyer will be required to remit the recordation costs for the transfers, a new quiet title placement fee, and, if applicable, remediation costs.

[*Id*. at §1.6.]

#### VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is one that this Court has become all too familiar with in the last decade: a professional property purchaser acquired a property at a homeowner's association lien foreclosure sale and then challenged the first position deed of trust's continued validity as a result in order to obtain a financial windfall after paying pennies to obtain its interest. Specific to this matter, the Deed of Trust was foreclosed upon after the HOA Sale but before the HOA Sale buyer, First 100, then transferred its interest to a subsequent entity, Chersus. As a result, in addition to the parties competing claims to quiet title and for declaratory relief, Chersus also asserted counterclaims for wrongful foreclosure, trespass, conversion and unjust enrichment against Ocwen.

After the parties proceeded through discovery and filed competing motions for summary judgment, the district court entered summary judgment in favor of Chersus and against Ocwen on all of its counterclaims, concluding that the HOA Sale extinguished the Deed of Trust, the subsequent Foreclosure Sale under the

Deed of Trust was wrongful, that Ocwen was liable for trespass to Chersus and Ocwen was unjustly enriched. The district court then entered an award of damages in favor of Chersus for lost rental income and awarded Chersus its litigation costs.

Ocwen now appeals and seeks reversal on the following grounds:

First, the district court erred by relying on West Sunset 2050 Trust v. Nationstar Mortg., LLC, 134 Nev. 352, 420 P.3d 1032 (2018) ("West Sunset") (holding that a homeowners association did not lack standing to foreclose after entering into a substantially similar factoring agreement), to conclude that the HOA Sale was valid. But the issue of whether a foreclosure sale was commercially unreasonable was not before the West Sunset court. The district court simply concluded that the Factoring Agreement was not evidence of collusion but did not analyze whether the HOA Sale price was grossly inadequate. This was erroneous and requires reversal because the undisputed evidentiary record confirms that the HOA Sale price was less than 2.4 % of the value of the Property such that it was grossly inadequate. The undisputed evidentiary record also confirms that the requisite *slight evidence* of fraud, oppression or unfairness was present to render the HOA Sale commercially unreasonable and, therefore, voidable as to its effect on the Deed of Trust.

Second, the district court erred in concluding that First 100 and Chersus' bona fide purchaser status was irrelevant. Applicable Nevada law confirms that the

district court was required to inquire and analyze whether First 100 and Chersus were bona fide purchasers when it weighed the equities to determine whether the HOA Sale was voidable. The undisputed evidentiary record confirms that neither First 100 nor Chersus paid valuable consideration for their interests in the Property and both had actual knowledge that title to the Property may continue to be encumbered by the Deed of Trust.

Third, because the district court reached an erroneous conclusion as to the validity of the HOA Sale, it subsequently erred in entering summary judgment on Chersus' counterclaim for Wrongful Foreclosure against Ocwen. The district court further erred by concluding that Chersus had sufficiently proven that it was not in breach or default under the terms of the Deed of Trust so it was wrongful for foreclosure to proceed thereunder. These conclusions were erroneous because Chersus is not a party to the Deed of Trust and Nevada law confirms that it is the Borrowers (as the grantors/trustors) breach and default which is the relevant inquiry. Here, it is undisputed that the Borrowers were in default of their repayment obligations and the express terms of the Deed of Trust permitted foreclosure as a remedy. The HOA Sale was commercially unreasonable and did not extinguish the Deed of Trust. Consequently, GMAC lawfully proceeded with the Loan Foreclosure.

Fourth, the district court erred in granting summary judgment to Chersus on

its counterclaim for Trespass because Chersus failed to present any argument or supporting evidence to the district court that Ocwen had entered the Property, conducted a "lockout" or otherwise "forcibly entered" the Property causing Chersus' damages.

Fifth, the district court erred in granting summary judgment to Chersus on its counterclaim for Unjust Enrichment because Chersus failed to present any argument or supporting evidence to the district court that it had conferred any benefit upon Ocwen and that Ocwen accepted and retained any benefit without payment of the value thereof to Chersus. Moreover, because the undisputed evidentiary record confirms that the HOA Sale was commercially unreasonable and did not extinguish the Deed of Trust, any rental income received and retained by Chersus should have been paid to Ocwen post-Loan Foreclosure and Chersus has been unjustly enriched by its receipt of those amounts at a time when it did not own the Property.

Sixth, in the alternative, should this Court affirm summary judgment in favor of Chersus, the award of monetary damages for lost income and litigation costs to Chersus must be overturned. The district court abused its discretion in considering the testimony and report of an undisclosed expert witness whose expert report failed to comply with the requirements of NRCP 16.1(a)(2)(B). The district court further abused its discretion by concluding that the witness was qualified as an

expert where no such supporting documentation was attached to the report and no analysis of the witness' qualifications and methodology was conducted. Lastly, the district court abused its discretion in awarding Chersus its litigation costs because Chersus failed to timely file its Memorandum of Costs and certain deposition costs lacked sufficient justifying documentation.

For these reasons, Ocwen respectfully submits that summary judgment in favor of Chersus and against Ocwen must be reversed and this matter remanded with instruction to the district court to enter summary judgment in Ocwen's favor.

#### VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

While a district court's findings of fact are reviewed for abuse of discretion, a district court's conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. White v. Cont'l Ins. Co., 119 Nev. 114, 116, 65 P.3d 1090, 1091 (2003); Collins v. Burns, 103 Nev. 394, 399, 741 P.2d 819, 822 (1987), distinguished on other grounds by Goodrich & Pennington Mortg. Fund, Inc. v. J.R. Woolard, Inc., 120 Nev. 177, 101 P.3d 792 (2004). A district court's application of law to facts is also reviewed de novo along with all questions of law. 24/7 Ltd v. Schoen, 133 Nev. 975, 399 P.3d 916 (2017) (citing Beazer Homes Nev., Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 120 Nev. 575, 579, 97 P.3d 1132, 1135 (2004); D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Green, 120 Nev. 549, 553, 96 P.3d 1159, 1162 (2004)); Franchise Tax Bd. of State of California v. Hyatt, 133 Nev. 826, 407 P.3d 717, 733 (2017), cert. granted sub nom. Franchise Tax Bd. of

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