IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC, A FOREIGN LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, Appellant/Petitioner (Appellant)	Case No. 82680 Electronically Filed Apr 19 2022 07:37 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
VS.	
CHERSUS HOLDINGS, LLC, A	
DOMESTIC LIMITED LIABILITY	
COMPANY; and SOUTHERN	
TERRACE HOMEOWNERS	
ASSOCIATION, A DOMESTIC	
NONPROFIT	
CORPORATION,	
Respondents/Respondents (Defendants)	

APPELLEE/RESPONDENT CHERSUS HOLDINGS, LLC

AMENDED ANSWERING BRIEF

(previous filing was of a prior draft-this is correct draft)

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

Appellant claims the district court erred by not finding the terms of PSA "present the requisite very slight evidence of fraud, oppression or unfairness..." Appellant also claims, "the district court's conclusions to the contrary were erroneous and grounds for reversal." XIV:AA2759. Appellant's claims lack merit. In *Lahrs Family Trust v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 2019 WL 4054161, 446 P.3d 1157, *2 (2019) (unpub. disposition) ("*Lahrs Trust*"), the Court stated an HOA's decision to enter into a PSA with First 100 does not cast doubt on the HOA Sale. In other words, Appellant was required to produce evidence showing the PSA presents slight evidence of collusion. Once again, the district court found Appellant produced NO EVIDENCE of collusion, fraud, unfairness, and oppression.

Appellant further argues the district court erred by finding the PSA was valid and it did not amount to evidence of collusion, fraud, unfairness, and oppression. In arguing the district court erred, the Appellant erroneously contends the district court did not consider collusion and other factors. The Appellant alleged certain provisions of the PSA, including: (1) the opening bid for \$99.00, (2) the requirement that the HOA use ULS (hand-picked by First 100) as its foreclosure agent, (3) ULS's right to hold the HOA Sale outside of regular business hours, provided very slight evidence of collusion, fraud, unfairness, and oppression.

In its Opening Brief, Appellant contends for the first time that \$99.00 bid is too low and the opening bid should be for the amount of the lien of the unpaid assessments. Appellant did not make this argument at the summary judgment hearing in the district court and it has not provided any evidentiary basis for its argument, which in all respects, an opinion. This argument lacks merit because the Court considered extensive deposition testimony from Mr. Atkinson where he explained that requiring an opening bid equal to the lien amount makes it difficult to sell the property and the \$99.00 opening bid is designed to get the bidding started. Based on the evidence presented at the summary judgment hearing, the district court determined that the \$99.00 opening bid was not evidence of collusion, fraud, unfairness, and oppression.

Appellant also makes a conclusory argument that the district court erred when it concluded that it was proper for ULS to conduct the HOA Sale outside of regular business hours because Mr. Atkinson did not want potential bidders walking around his office. Appellant speculates/opines the HOA Sales should have been conducted in a traditional auction location, such at the courthouse steps. Appellant also make the unsupported and conclusory claim ULS set up a foreclosure sale designed to reduce the number of bidders and/or depress bidding. Appellant's arguments lack merit because the district considered extensive deposition testimony from Mr. Atkinson where he explained that the auction was well attended and the \$3,500 sales price shows there was active bidding on the Property. Based on the evidence presented at the summary judgment hearing, the district court determined that Mr. Atkinson's practice of conducting HOA Sales on Saturdays was not evidence of collusion, fraud, unfairness, and oppression.

Appellant also argues Atkinson's testimony is not reliable because it is "selfserving." The Oxford Dictionary defines "self-serving" as having concern for one's own welfare and interests before those of others. Appellant has provided NO EVIDENCE that Atkinson has an interest in the outcome of this case and/or that he benefitted from his deposition testimony. This argument is frivolous.

Appellant provides no evidentiary support for its new argument that the fact that the HOA was required to use ULS as its foreclosure agent is evidence of fraud. Appellant provided no evidence to support this argument. Moreover, in *West Sunset*, the Court acknowledged the PSA required: (1) the HOA, to continue its collection efforts on the past-due assessments via ULS, (2) ULS was instructed to remit payments directly to First 100. 420 P3d at 1037. The Court determined the PSA, including these provisions was valid. Based on *West Sunset* the district court found these PSA terms were not evidence of collusion, fraud, unfairness, and oppression. (3) subsequent decisions of this Court have rejected West Sunset and have found that identical Factoring Agreements between ULS, First 100 and an HOA provided slight evidence of collusion.

(b) Appellant's Contention that Subsequent Court Decisions Of This Have Rejected West Sunset is Without Merit and the Cases Cited by Appellant Are Readily Distinguishable.

Appellant misleadingly claims subsequent court decisions have "rejected" *West Sunset*. A review of the cases cited by Appellant shows they do not reject *West Sunset*. Instead, the cases cited by Appellant are readily distinguishable from *West Sunset* and this case. For example, the Court's recent decision in *Lahrs Family Trust v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 2019 WL 4054161, 446 P.3d 1157, *2 (2019) (unpub. disposition) (*"Lahrs Trust"*) does not reject *West Sunset*. To the contrary, the Court confirmed an HOA's decision to enter into a factoring agreement with First 100 did not cast doubt on the legitimacy of a HOA Sale. *Id.* (citing *West Sunset*, 134 Nev. at 355-57).

On the other hand, the Court noted certain factoring agreements have provisions that "suggest that there was some unfairness in the foreclosure process that affected the sale." *Id.* The Court also found there was a lack of competitive bidding specifically referred to concerns about provisions: (1) setting the opening bid at \$99.00, and (2) prohibiting the HOA from credit bidding. *Id.*

Importantly, in *Lahr's Trust*, the Court also found the HOA sent a preforeclosure letter/notice to JP Morgan advising them of the HOA Sale. *Id.* The letter/notice expressly stated, "[t]he Association's Lien for Delinquent Assessments is Junior only to the Senior Lender/Mortgage Holder. This Lien may affect your position." *Id.* The Court noted other Courts have held this type of letter may constitute unfairness because it gives the impression that a purchase would remain subject to the first DOT on the property. *Id.*(citing *ZYZZX2 v. Dixon*, No. 2:13-CV-1307, 2016 WL 1181666, at *5 (D. Nev. 2016). It is also important to note the opinion in *Lahr's Trust* does not indicate that First 100 or Lahr's Trust produced any evidence explaining why the opening \$99.00 bid and the restriction on HOA credit bids would not lead to collusion, fraud, oppression and unfairness. *Id.* Based on the foregoing, *Lahr's Trust* is distinguishable from this case and it does not mandate the reversal the district court judgment.

Appellant also cites to *United States Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Gifford W. Cochran*, 2020 WL 2521786, 462 P.3d 1228 (2020) (unpub. disposition). In *Cochran*, the HOA signed a similar PSA with First 100 and the PSA had provisions regarding the \$99.00 initial bid and a restriction that HOA could not credit bid at the auction. *Id*. The district court granted summary judgment against the bank. *Id*. On appeal, the Court raised concerns about certain provisions in the PSA. *Id*. In addition, the Court pointed out there was substantial evidence in the record that the foreclosure agent failed to mail U.S. Bank a notice of foreclosure sale and U.S. Bank did not have actual notice of the sale date. *Id*. In addition, the HOA represented on multiple occasions to multiple entities that the HOA's lien was junior to the first deed of trust on the property. *Id*. Given these circumstances, the Court determined US Bank was entitled to equitable relief. *Id*.

Like *Lahr's Trust*, the *Cochran* case is distinguishable from this case. Here, there is no claim/evidence Appellant did not receive notice of the HOA Sale and it is clear Appellant, its predecessor, and its counsel had notice of the HOA Sale and failed to tender the superpriority amount. Also, there is no evidence in this case the HOA told Appellant its assessment lien was junior to the DOT. Also, unlike *Cochran*, Chersus provided substantial evidence the PSA did not lead to collusion, fraud, oppression, and unfairness. In fact, the district court found Appellant produced NO EVIDENCE of collusion, fraud, oppression or unfairness. This case is readily distinguishable from *Cochran*.

Appellant also references *Las Vegas Dev. Grp., LLC v. Yfantis*, 173 F.Supp.3d 1046 (D. Nev. 2016) where the court state collusion between the winning bidder and the entity selling the property may constitute fraud, oppression, or unfairness. *Id.* However, the Court's opinion in *Yfantis* was part of an order denying Wells Fargo's motion to dismiss Appellant's quiet title action. *Id.* Given the vastly different procedural postures, *Yfantis* is, at best, persuasive *dicta* and it does not provide adequate authority for reversing the district court's order granting Chersus's MSJ.

Appellant cites to *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. First 100, LLC*, 2019 WL 919585, Case No.: 3:17-cv-00062-MMD-WGC (D. Nev. 2019). In *Wells Fargo,* appellant argued equitable relief was warranted because: (1) the HOA Sale price was grossly inadequate, (2) the HOA Sale took place on a Saturday, outside of normal business hours; and (3) the Factoring Agreement showed the HOA colluded with First 100 to sell the Property to First 100 at an unreasonably low price. The Court found Appellant was entitled to equitable relief because the undisputed evidence showed: (1) a grossly low sale price, and (2) at least slight evidence of unfairness. *Id.* The Court determined the terms of the Factoring Agreement indicated the HOA

Sale was unfair and that the HOA colluded with First 100 to ensure First 100 could purchase the Property for an unreasonably low price. *Id.*

Again, this case is distinguishable from *Wells Fargo because* Appellant has provided NO EVIDENCE that First 100, ULS, or the HOA colluded to ensure First 100 could purchase the Property for an unreasonably low price. Thus, the district court's order cannot be reversed based on *Wells Fargo*.

(c) The District Courts Order Must Be Affirmed Because Appellant Makes Numerous Speculative Arguments, Misstates Facts, and Makes Arguments That Were Not Raised In the District Court.

1. Appellant Makes Multiple Erroneous, Misleading, Speculative Assertions That Contradict the Evidence in the Record.

a. Appellant erroneously states the Factoring Agreement terms present the requisite very slight evidence of collusion. In this regard, Appellant appears to argue: (1) the Factoring Agreement alone is sufficient evidence of collusion, fraud, oppression or unfairness, (2) the district court's conclusions to the contrary were erroneous and grounds for reversal, and (3) Appellant does not have produce evidence the Factoring Agreement led to collusion, fraud, oppression or unfairness.

2. Contrary to Appellant's Arguments, The Deposition Testimony of Robert Atkinson Is Reliable and Unrefuted and Is a Sound Basis for the District Court's Factual Findings.

a. Appellant's contention that Mr. Atkinson's testimony is unreliable, biased, and self-serving testimony lacks merit. Appellant erroneously contends Atkinson testified in general terms and lacked personal knowledge of the following topics. 1. The HOA Sale

2. That the opening bid price of \$99 was set to encourage bidding,

3. Auctions were generally well-attended by "NRS 116 type buyers"; and

4. HOAs did not want to acquire a property via a credit bid Appellant contends no evidence was presented "to confirm Atkinson's testimony about these topics was in any way true or applicable to the HOA Sale here."

Appellant's contention demonstrates a fundamental misunderstanding of what constitutes evidence, whether a witness is competent to testify, and the admissibility of testimony given under oath with opportunity for cross-examination. Mr. Atkinson is clearly a competent witness; he has personal knowledge of the matters he addressed in his deposition, he was responsible for drafting the PSAs, and he performed legal work required to foreclose on properties. Mr. Atkinson's testimony was given under oath and Appellant had the opportunity to cross-examine him. His testimony in this case clear, persuasive, and his testimony is undisputed.

b. Appellant has produced NO EVIDENCE showing the Factoring Agreement did result in a sale that was conducted in a manner intended to benefit First 100 exclusively. In fact, the evidence shows the tripartite agreement benefited all parties.

4. Appellant's contend that setting the opening bid at \$99 allowed First 100:(a) to acquire properties for \$100.00; (b) schedule auctions so no other bidders appeared; and (c) allowed "First 100 [to] enter an unchallenged bid for \$99,

guaranteeing it would win and acquire a property for a miniscule fraction of the value of the Property. This contention is pure speculation and Appellant produced NO EVIDENCE to support this speculative assertion.

5. Appellant unintelligibly speculates about other reasons why First 100 set "the opening bid for \$99, instead of the value of the HOA's lien for unpaid assessments in an amount greater than \$1,300, [III:AA0408]. Appellant continues speculating that "even if other bidders appeared and competitively bid on the Property, the ultimate winning bid would be lower (because it started lower) than if ULS opened bidding for the actual amount of the HOA's lien. This speculative contention is unintelligible and to the extent it can be deciphered, Appellant has produced no evidence to support this speculative contention.

6. Appellant wrongfully claims there was no competitive bidding at the HOA Sale and it has produced NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THIS ASSERTION.

7. Appellant further speculates that in a competitive bidding situation First 100 could bid any amount "because the final winning amount would be nothing more than a number on paper" and there is no evidence confirming "that any actual exchange of funds occurred here." Appellant produced no evidence to support this speculative contention.

8. Appellant further speculates even if an exchange of funds occurred, First 100's right to receive the HOA Sale proceeds essentially nullified any price it paid

at the HOA Sale because it received a full refund thereof and, therefore, paid \$0.00 at the HOA Sale. Appellant has produced no evidence to support this contention. Appellant failed to raise this issue in the district court.

9. Appellant claims the Factoring Agreement guaranteed that any amounts collected by ULS at the HOA Sale would be paid to First 100. [III:AA0401 at 4.02(a).] Appellant then speculates that whatever amount First 100 bid and allegedly paid at the HOA Sale would be immediately returned to First 100 per the Factoring Agreement terms – meaning First 100 effectively paid nothing for the Property at the HOA Sale. Appellant has produced no evidence to support this speculative claim the claim misstates how the PSA is set up.

10. Appellant makes the unsupported and conclusory allegation that the "evidentiary record here confirms" the HOA's ledger reflects First 100 simply wrote off the remaining amount of the HOA's lien as "bad debt" instead of paying the HOA for the remaining portion of its lien. [IV:AA0596.] Appellant has produced no evidence supporting this allegation and it did not make this claim in the district court.

11. Appellant speculates First 100's bad debt write-off is also evidence of collusion, fraud, unfairness and oppression because, "First 100 would outbid any other bidder to guarantee it was the winning bidder because it knew it would obtain...the Property without actually paying any money at the HOA Sale. Appellant produced no evidence of this claim and it did not raise this issue in the district court.

12. Appellant tries to argue there is very slight evidence of fraud, oppression or unfairness based on the specification of ULS and ULS's conduct of sales outside of regular business hours and the district court erred by not recognizing it. This argument is without merit. Appellant goes on to make claims how First 100 paid the \$3,500 purchase price but ultimately paid \$0.00. Again, there is no evidence to support this and it was not raised in the district court.

(d) The District Courts Order Must Be Affirmed Because Appellant's "Bona Fide Purchaser" Argument is Flawed and Irrelevant.

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